RECEIVED

Jan 03 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Chesterfield County

Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES MONROE BROWN,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000469

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the court erred by refusing to suppress evidence seized pursuant to a search warrant for appellant's phone since the warrant affidavit was vague and overbroad and the state stipulated that the one specific allegation in the affidavit that appellant's phone called the decedent's phone before the murder was false since that state failed to produce the probable cause necessary for a search warrant?

2.

Whether the court erred by refusing to direct the verdict as to the charge of murder where there was no direct or substantial circumstantial evidence appellant committed any overt act under the theory of accomplice liability to aid or abet another person or persons in killing the decedent?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted at the July 24, 2018, term of the Chesterfield County grand jury for the offense of murder. R. 364. His case was called to trial on April 21, 2021, before the Honorable Paul M. Burch, and a jury. Grant Smaldone represented appellant. Kernard Redmond was the deputy solicitor.

On April 22, 2021, the jury found appellant guilty of murder. R. 346, ll. 13-17. Judge Burch sentenced appellant to thirty-five years imprisonment. R. 361, ll. 9-11.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue one: Search and seizure

In Fourth Amendment search and seizure cases, the standard of review is limited to the following:

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support. When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling. The appellate court will reverse only when there is clear error.

State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). This deference does not bar appellate courts from conducting their own review of the record to determine whether the trial judge's decision is supported by the evidence. State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 521, 698 S.E.2d 203, 205 (2010). When an appellate court reviews the decision to issue a search warrant it must decide whether the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed. State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 683, 583 S.E.2d 437, 441 (Ct. App. 2003).

Issue two – Directed verdict

“A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial ‘if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.’” State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011) (quoting State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)). “Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt.” Id. “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at

776-777. “On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, this Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 777; see also State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 429, 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013). If the state failed to present any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove guilt of the accused, the appellate court must reverse the lower court’s denial of the directed verdict motion. Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 429, 753 S.E.2d at 409.

ARGUMENT

1.

The court erred by refusing to suppress evidence seized pursuant to a search warrant for appellant's phone since the warrant affidavit was vague and overbroad and the state stipulated that the one specific allegation in the affidavit that appellant's phone called the decedent's phone before the murder was false since that state failed to produce the probable cause necessary for a search warrant.

Relevant facts

Prior to trial defense counsel Smaldone moved to suppress the evidence seized pursuant to the search warrant in this case on the grounds of its “[v]agueness and over broadness. And to, primarily with the lack of probable cause on which it was issued...” R. 8, ll. 15-20. Defense counsel continued:

“[I] don't believe there's any probable cause to issue a search warrant for someone's phone. Especially, given the scope of the search warrant. The scope basically asks for anything and everything relating to that number, including call records, data and location. Nothing about why they would want the location. Nothing about why they would want the data. Just saying, this phone called that phone a few minutes before a murder and so we need to know everything about this person. Additionally, your Honor, I don't believe that that is even accurate. We'll get in to that in a minute. But I don't think that that number even called the victim's phone in this case. So I think there's really -- on it's face theirs is probable cause to issue that sort of search warrant. And I don't even think that on it's face, it's accurate. I think that is not an accurate statement that was made to the Magistrate when getting the search warrant.”

R. 9, l. 10 – 10, l. 3.

As seen below, the state would stipulate during the suppress hearing that appellant's phone *did not call the decedent's phone* as alleged in the search warrant affidavit. The search

warrant affidavit, State's exhibit 1, was exceptionally vague and overbroad, and its one relevant allegation regarding appellant's phone calling the decedent's phone was false. R. 364. As will be seen supra, the state would stipulate during the suppression hearing that appellant did not call the decedent, and the decedent did not call appellant.

The affiant was Lieutenant Wayne Jordan. The affidavit stated that Jordan was a graduate of the South Carolina Criminal Justice Academy who had received training on cellular phones and analysis of cellular phone data and records. R. 364. The affidavit continued:

The affiant knows through training and experience that physical evidence such as cell phone records and usage is crucial and often one of the only links to a suspect and other perpetrators of the crime. The affiant knows that cell phone records are a valuable investigative tool, and can link an offender to a crime scene or a particular location. Cell phones are commonly used for email, text messaging, video, and photos, and this data, in addition to the records of calls made, may provide evidence of the crimes being investigated or leads into the identities of the perpetrators.

Through experience and training, your affiant knows cellular phone services that includes text messaging and e-mail services, such as cellular service provider, maintain records related to subscriber information, account registration, credit information, billing and airtime records, outbound and inbound call detail, connection time and dates, Internet routing information (Internet Protocol numbers), GPS and tower locations, and message content, that may assist in the identification of person/s accessing and utilizing the account. Through experience and training, your affiant knows that the cellular service provider maintains records that include cell site information and GPS location. Cell site information shows which cell site a particular cellular telephone was within at the time of the cellular phone's usage. Some model cellular phones are GPS enabled which allows the provider and user to determine the exact geographic position of the phone. Further, the cellular service provider maintains cell site maps that show the geographical location of all cell sites within its service area. Using the cell site geographical information and GPS information, officers would be able to determine the physical location of the individual using the cell phone number 843-439-7060

That on January 21st, 2017 James Henderson Jr was shot and killed at his home in Cheraw, South Carolina and during this incident he received several phone calls from the target number minutes before his murder. This is an ongoing Murder investigation.

This search warrant must be faxed out of state, and due to factors beyond the control of the affiant, it is highly likely the records will not be provided by Verizon within the 10 days required. The affiant asks the court to extend the time limit to whatever period of time is reasonable necessary for Sprint to produce the records sought. As part of this search warrant, the affiant requests the court direct Verizon and its employees/authorized agents and representatives to not disclose the existence of this search warrant to the account holder as the release of this information could impede the investigation by alerting the suspect(s) of the progress and focus of the investigation.

R. 365. (emphasis added).

Suppression hearing

Wayne Jordan of the Chesterfield Sheriff's Department was the only witness during the suppression hearing. R. 10, ll. 15-22. Jordan was the supervisor of the detective unit. R. 10, l. 25 – 11, l. 2. Jordan identified State's exhibit 1 as the "search warrant I had signed by the magistrate." R. 11, ll. 21-25; R. 364. The target was appellant's cell phone at "843-439-7060."¹ R. 12, ll. 1-3.

Jordan testified that the murder in this case happened on January 21, 2017, in the Hillian-Edwards Road vicinity of Chesterfield County. R. 12, ll. 14-16. The following occurred on direct-examination of Jordan:

Q. [A]nd what did you – to the best that you can recall, what did you tell the Magistrate in support of you getting the search warrant?

¹ The phone numbers in this case are critical to specify the cell phones at issue. Consequently, they are not redacted. Appellant is incarcerated because he was convicted of murder and the victim is deceased so there is no harm possible from these phone numbers not being redacted.

A. That this number was also associated with the victim's phone as far as numerous threats and it was part of an ongoing murder investigation. Jordan said that State's exhibit 2 was a form letter from Verizon. R. p. *. He said that State's exhibit 3 had the phone number of the cell phone and the account number, and that State's exhibit 4 was the "incoming and outgoing phone calls that were made during this time." R. 14, l. 1 – 35, l. 1; R. 367. (State's exhibits 2-4).²

R. 13, ll. 13-18.

On cross-examination Jordan said he was not sure how he initially received appellant's phone number ending in 7060: "It was not brought to my attention who gave what investigator the information. It was just collected..." Jordan said the information he received as a result of the search warrant went to SLED for further analysis pertaining to cell tower mapping. R. 15, ll. 2-6. R. 15, l. 20 – 16, l. 10. Jordan said he thought he got the information from "some investigator," and he then observed "I believe it all came from the victim's phone." R. 16, ll. 11-18. Jordan added "the victim's phone was recovered. I do not know how it was recovered..." R. 16, ll. 15-25. The following occurred on cross-examination of Jordan

Q. You obtained the number from a witness or from an investigator that got it from a witness that said it was involved and on the victim's phone; right, essentially?

A. I believe that's correct.

Q. And you later learned that that number, the number ending in 7060 never called the victim in this case; right?

A. I can't say whether it did or didn't. I don't know.

Q. Okay. Did you ever know whether it did or didn't?

² Jordan said that State's exhibit 2 was a form letter from Verizon. R. 367. He said that State's exhibit 3 had the phone number of the cell phone and the account number, and that State's exhibit 4 was the "incoming and outgoing phone calls that were made during this time." R. 14, l. 1 – 15, l. 1; R. 367. (State's exhibits 2-4).

A. I never looked at -- like I said, I don't acquire the records. I don't analyze the records. I give them all to SLED and let them analyze it. I cannot say yes or no to that question.

Q. Okay. Can you say yes or no whether that number ending in 7060 texted the victim's phone in this case?

A. Again, I cannot answer that question.

Q. Can you say whether the phone number ending 7050 was saved in the victim's phone in this case?

A. Again, I can't tell you about the phone that was saved because, to my knowledge, we never recovered the phone.

Q. Okay.

A. We got the phone records from doing a search warrant because it was an AT&T phone at the time if I remember correctly.

Q. All right. Okay. So you never recovered the victim's actual phone. You just pulled of the his records?

A. To my knowledge I do not know if we recovered the phone. I don't remember. I can't tell you that. All I know is that we did a search warrant and I'm pretty sure it was an AT&T phone because I remember us pinging that phone that night that gave us latitude/longitude coordinates. So I'm pretty sure it was going to be an AT&T phone and that's where we got most of our records from at the time. To tell you that we have the phone in our custody, I cannot tell you that.

R. 17, l. 25 – 19, l. 16.

On redirect testimony the solicitor stated “first of all, *I will actually stipulate for the record that we do not have any phone calls being made between the victim’s phone number and to the defendant’s phone.*” R. 20, ll. 3-8. (emphasis added). Although seemingly not relevant to obtaining the search warrant, the police apparently learned at some point that appellant’s phone called the decedent’s cousin, “S. dot’s,” phone at 8:37 p.m. on the night of the murder. R. 21, l.

16 – 22, l. 5. It was never made clear to the best of appellant's knowledge what, if anything, the decedent's cousin allegedly had to do with this crime.

The solicitor again stipulated that "*the defendant's phone never actually called the victim's phone...I can stipulate to that* [also]." R. 22, 13-22.

Jordan said he "guessed" he could also stipulate that appellant's phone never texted the victim's phone either. R. 22, ll. 23 – 23, l. 1. Jordan alleged that "we had folks giving us information, giving us names. Plus we went through the phone book, we had this number as well. Jordan admitted "that information was not on the search warrant, however." R. 23, ll. 13-14.

Jordan also said there were other text messages being sent between several defendants "including Brenton Davis" that evening. R. 24, ll. 14-25. Jordan said all the cell phone information they received was "sent to SLED." R. 26, l. 1 – 27, l. 9. The search warrant in this case was dated January 24, 2017. R. 364. The murder was on the night of January 21st, 2017. Thus, the search warrant affidavit was filled out only a couple of days after the murder.

When Jordan's testimony concluded, the judge then ruled, without further argument: "With the objection of the testimony in having dealt with similar search warrants before, in fact, we had a trial last week or a year and half ago before the pandemic hit and we got deep into the cell phone technology. I don't see any problem with the warrant. I will deny the objection. Overrule -- I'm sorry, overrule the objection." R. 27, ll. 14-21.

Trial evidence

As will be seen infra, during the trial Sergeant Craig Burns of the Chesterfield Sheriff's Department testified that appellant denied being in Chesterfield County on the night of the murder. Appellant said he was at the Club Envy. Burns also said appellant did not give him his

correct cell phone information and he maintained that appellant told him that he lost his cell phone prior to that time. R. 189, l. 24 – 190, l. 17; R. 204, ll. 17-23; State's Exhibit 29, (Interview with appellant). As will be seen infra, despite a very hostile interrogation appellant insisted he was at the Club Envy on January 21, 2017, the night of the murder, and the interrogator responded that while appellant may have been there, he was not at the club at 10:00 p.m. Appellant consistently maintained he was not present in Chesterfield County where the murder occurred.

Burns also testified and claimed that the phone records showed "activity on the defendant's phone and up until and past murder of Mr. Henderson." R. 205, ll. 6-9. Burns later had to admit that appellant never telephoned the decedent in this case and that the appellant never texted the victim. R. 231, ll. 18-24. Burns also admitted that appellant had no prior criminal record, he worked at Mohawk Carpet, and he was the father of four children. R. 230, l. 19 – 231, l. 7.

Burns testified that co-defendant Brenton Davis had telephoned appellant on the night of the murder. Burns also maintained that the phone records indicated that appellant called co-defendant Jamarcus Sellers on the night of the murder. R. 210, l. 3 – 215, l. 22.

The state's meandering contention was that appellant was acting in concert with Brenton Davis and Jamarcus Sellers and that he was therefore guilty under the theory of accomplice liability. While the state had to admit that appellant never called the decedent or texted decedent and that the decedent never called or texted appellant -- when blended together throughout the testimony -- it created an atmospheric that state desired of appellant participating with Davis and Sellers in something that was occurring.

Discussion

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects citizens from unreasonable searches and seizures. It provides that “no warrant shall be issued except upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation and particularly describing the place to be searched and the persons or things to be seized.” State v Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 88, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012). When an appellate court reviews the decision to issue a search warrant it must decide whether the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding probable cause existed. State v. Dupree, 354 S.C. 676, 683, 583 S.E.2d 437, 441 (Ct. App. 2003).

In determining the validity of the search warrant, a reviewing court may only consider information which was brought to the magistrate’s attention. State v. Martin, 347 S.C. 522, 527, 556 S.E.2d 706, 709 (Ct. App. 2021). Although a “totality of the circumstances” test is utilized in probable cause determinations, our General Assembly has imposed stricter requirements than federal law for issuing a search warrant. See State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 212, 692 S.E.2d 490, 495 (2009); State v. Jones, 342 S.C. 121, 128, 536 S.E.2d 675, 678 (2000). The affidavit or a search warrant may be supplemented by sworn oral testimony before the magistrate. State v. Adolphe, 314 S.C. 89, 92, 441 S.E.2d 832, 833 (Ct. App. 1994).

Defense counsel correctly argued that the affidavit in this case was extremely vague and overbroad. State’s exhibit 1 simply states that information obtained from cell phones can be valuable during a criminal investigation, and that Wayne Jordan was allegedly qualified to interpret the cell phone information. R. 364.

The specific language in the affidavit that appellant’s phone ending in 7060 called the decedent’s phone several times minutes before the murder was admitted to be, by stipulation of the solicitor, simply not true. It was a materially false statement. There was nothing else in the

affidavit that could replace this false statement as far as redacting it, and the remainder of the affidavit providing probable cause. See State v. Missouri, 337 S.C. 548, 524 S.E.2d 394 (1999) (false information not considered); State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 352 S.E.2d 471 (1987) (South Carolina has a stricter standard for the issuance of a valid search warrant than what may pass muster under the Fourth Amendment).

The January 24, 2017, affidavit of Lieutenant Wayne Jordan for appellant's cell phone information did not provide probable cause for the issuance of the search warrant under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution. See, also, State v. McKnight, 291 S.C. 110, 352 S.E.2d 471 (1987) (our stricter state court precedent that probable cause must be contained in the search warrant affidavit itself).

Since the use of appellant's cell phone information was sprinkled throughout the testimony before the jury it created a spurious atmospheric of appellant's alleged participation in the murder which was highly prejudicial. Appellant's conviction should be reversed, and appellant should be granted a new trial.

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