**RECEIVED**

**Feb 08 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Chesterfield County  
The Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

---

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JAMES MONROE BROWN,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2021-000469

---

**AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

J. ANTHONY MABRY  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 11973

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. WILLIAM B. ROGERS, JR.

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

evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the case must be submitted to the jury).

In ruling on a directed verdict motion where the State relies on circumstantial evidence, the court must deny the motion for a directed verdict if the evidence is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. Bennett, 781 S.E.2d at 354. The trial court "...must concern itself solely with the existence or non-existence of evidence from which a jury could reasonably infer guilt." State v. Phillips, 416 S.C. 184, 193, 785 S.E.2d 448, 52 (2016), *quoting Bennett*, 415 S.C. at 237, 781 S.E.2d at 354. If examining the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, there is evidence in the record which could induce a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty, then the trial judge must deny the motion for a directed verdict. Id.; Pearson, 415 S.C. at 474, 783 S.E.2 808.

***Appellant conceded his guilt as an aider and abettor at sentencing so this issue is waived***

At sentencing, Brown's attorney conceded Brown's guilt of murder as an aider and abettor and used this as a basis to plead for mercy from the court. (R. 358, ll. 9-19). Brown's attorney stated as follows:

This is kind of a rare case where the facts were not particularly in dispute. It was almost a legal question towards the end of the trial, your Honor. You know, based on my kind of stiffing [sic] through the evidence, I think we all probably know the case is over, agree that Brenton Davis was the shooter, probably Jamarcus Sellers as well. My understanding is Brenton Davis asked James [appellant James Monroe Brown] to come help out, be basically either backup or fight. And, as your Honor and the jury heard, that things obviously went south and both parties had guns and it did go south.

Your Honor, as you already heard, my client really has no record before this. He's a father. He was working at Mohawk Carpet and just got caught up in this. I think he was doing Brenton a favor possibly and here he stands today. And we know what happens after this, you Honor.

With that, I know James [Appellant] pretty well. I know Bubba pretty well. It's one of those sad things I think in a thousand lifetimes this happened in one. In a thousand different universes, this probably the only time - - he's such a calm guy

and agreeable guy, easy going. He got caught up in this, no doubt and I hate it for him and that's the law.

(R. 358 ln. 9 – 359, ln. 7). Judge Burch sentenced Brown to 35 years imprisonment accordingly. (R. 361, ll. 9-11). Because Brown conceded his guilt at sentencing, there is no merit to this appeal. *See State v. Sroka*, 267 S.C. 664, 665, 230 S.E.2d 816, 817 (1976)(“Any doubt about the correctness of this conclusion is eliminated by the admission of appellant in open court, after conviction and during the pre-sentence inquiry by the trial judge, that he had participated in the robbery with a sawed-off shotgun. Further review of the record, therefore, is rendered unnecessary.”); *State v. Wiley*, 387 S.C. 490, 497, 692 S.E.2d 560, 564 (Ct. App. 2010)(defendant’s statement “I guess I want to apologize to the Court for getting myself in this trouble. I should have known better than what I was doing. I had numerous opportunities to stop. I just want to apologize to the Court” supporting fact in harmless error analysis).

### **Argument**

#### **There was more than sufficient evidence to overcome the directed verdict motion.**

The State more than satisfied the standard to overcome the motion for a directed verdict on the charge of murder. Judge Burch appropriately denied the motion for a directed verdict at the close of the State’s case. There was both direct and substantial circumstantial evidence from which the trial judge and the jury could find Brown guilty of murder pursuant to accomplice liability or the law of parties to a criminal offense, i.e. the hand of one is the hand of all and/or as one present aiding and abetting. Considering the evidence, including all inferences, in the light most favorable to the State, Judge Burch did not err, i.e. abuse his discretion, in denying the motion for a directed verdict: As a result, Judge Burch must be affirmed.

## The Law

Brown argues the State presented insufficient evidence that he is responsible for the victim's murder under an accomplice theory.

Under the “hand of one is the hand of all” theory of accomplice liability, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose. A defendant may be convicted on a theory of accomplice liability pursuant to an indictment charging him only with the principal offense. [However, m]ere presence and prior knowledge that a crime was going to be committed, without more, is insufficient to constitute guilt. [Rather,] presence at the scene of a crime by pre-arrangement to aid, encourage, or abet in the perpetration of the crime constitutes guilt as a principal.

State v. Thompson, 374 S.C. 257, 261-62, 647 S.E.2d 702, 704-05 (Ct. App. 2007)(internal quotations and citations omitted). “Under an accomplice liability theory, ‘a person must personally commit the crime or be present at the scene of the crime and intentionally, or through a common design, aid, abet, or assist in the commission of that crime through some overt act.’” See State v. Condrey, 349 S.C. 184, 194, 562 S.E.2d 320, 325 (Ct. App. 2002)(quoting State v. Langley, 334 S.C. 643, 648-49, 515 S.E.2d 98, 101 (1999)). In order to establish the parties agreed to achieve an illegal purpose, thereby establishing presence by pre-arrangement, the State need not prove a formal expressed agreement, but rather can prove the same by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties. Id. at 193, 562 S.E.2d at 324 (stating that under the hand of one is the hand of all theory, “[a] formally expressed agreement is not necessary to establish the conspiracy” which brings the accomplice to the scene of the crime).

## The Evidence

At the close of the State's case, viewing the *evidence* and *all inferences in the light most favorable to the State*, the following was established.

The victim lived in a mobile home park in the Cheraw area of Chesterfield County. Brown and his co-defendants lived in the Bennettsville area of Marlboro County. Brown and co-

defendant Davis were close associates. They spoke to each other at least 70 times during the week prior to the murder and Brown's car was found parked behind Davis's home the day after the murder. (R. 107-33; 93-103; 210-11; 234-81; State's Ex. 3, 4, 17, 33, 34-37).

On the day of victim's murder, victim was receiving threatening phone calls. Victim was so upset he told his girlfriend: "they are trying to put me in a box." Victim received several text messages earlier that afternoon from Brown's close associate and co-defendant Davis requesting victim to come to Marlboro County. Victim refused. Then victim began receiving more phone calls throughout the evening from Davis. Victim did not go to Marlboro County. Brown called victim's cousin Smalls (aka S-Dot). Smalls then called victim. Smalls also texted victim Brown's phone number, but victim did not call Brown back. Victim did call Smalls back. At the same time, or later, Brown called Smalls again and then Smalls called victim again. Victim never called Brown back and never went to Marlboro County. But victim continued to receive phone calls from Brown's co-defendant and associate Davis as the night progressed toward the time of victim's murder. The jury could find or infer from these numerous texts and phone calls, based on what victim stated to his girlfriend under extreme distress, and what occurred later to victim, that victim was being told to come to Marlboro County and he was being threatened with a physical assault or death. When he refused to come, the men threatening him, including Brown, came to victim in Chesterfield County. (R. 107-33; 93-103; 234-81; 196-201; 204-19; 330-30; State's Ex. 3, 4, 17, 33-37).

The evidence showed that the gang of men threatening victim, including Brown, left Marlboro County and traveled to victim's mobile home park. This is supported not only by CSLI from Davis' phone, but also CSLI from Brown's phone. Both men's phones traveled from the Bennettsville area of Marlboro County to the area of victim's mobile home park in

Chesterfield County at the exact same time. Neither Brown nor Davis talked over the phone or texted each other during the trip, which is consistent with both men being in the same vehicle. However, during the trip to the area of victim's mobile home park, both Brown and Davis communicated by phone with Sellers, another co-defendant in the case, indicating Sellers was riding in another vehicle, and the judge and jury could infer they were communicating about what they were going to do when they arrived at the mobile home park, i.e. shoot or kill victim. The jury could infer this from what the gang of men actually did when they arrived at victim's home, surrounded him, and shot him multiple times in the back of his body with multiple guns. (R. 107-33; 93-103; 210-11; 234-81; State's Ex. 3, 4, 17, 33-37).

Not only do the phone records and CSLI show this is what occurred, but also eyewitness' testimony, which is direct evidence, shows this. Ms. Ingram, the neighbor, was awakened at approximately 11:00 p.m. at night from her bed by car lights and a door slamming outside her home, and men's voices. The voices were angry or aggressive and a person was yelling repeatedly for victim ("S.B.") to come outside of the home and face the gang of men. The person was using profanity. When Ms. Ingram looked outside, she saw Brown, approximately 6 feet away from her, standing in the car lights with Sellers and Davis, who were both armed. She did not see a gun on Brown, but several of the men were armed. One (1) of the men had a handgun and the other *a long gun*, a rifle or shotgun. These guns would have been visible to Brown as well. This does not mean Brown did not have a gun, it was just not visible to Ms. Ingram. One must recall, Ms. Ingram and victim's girlfriend both testified they saw 5 or 6 men outside the car on each instance. Victim was shot, 4 times in the back, and at least **3 firearms**, and **possibly 4** were used to kill the victim. No rifle or shotgun casings were found at the crime scene where victim was shot. Therefore, Brown could have had a firearm hidden on his person at

Ms. Ingram's home. Regardless, as Ms. Ingram testified, there is no question Brown was part of the group confronting her boyfriend Thomas and part of what they were doing at her home. She testified they were all acting together in what they were doing there at her home. (R. 107-33; 93-103; 210-11; 134-69; 174-85; State's Ex. 18; 25; 20, 21.

Ingram testified her boyfriend asked her to come see the men outside with guns, and she got up and looked out the window. In addition to being armed, the gang of men were confronting her boyfriend and accusing him of being victim. By name, they referred to victim. Thomas had to convince the gang of men he was not the victim. Ingram testified the men were loading their weapons outside her home. Two (2) live shotgun shells were later found near her home after the crime. After Thomas convinced the gang of armed men he was not "S.B.", Ingram saw the men leave and drive to victim's home, which was nearby, approximately the distance of the witness stand to the back of the courtroom. Ingram saw a 2<sup>nd</sup> car which she testified was clearly involved. It pulled past the first car, stopped, and illuminated the back side of victim's home with its high beam headlights, preventing anyone in the home from leaving that direction without being seen. It should be noted here that there were phone calls from Brown and Davis to Sellers at the approximate time the gang of men, including Brown, arrived in victim's mobile home park. The trial judge and jury could infer from this evidence *and* what Ingram witnessed, that Brown, Davis, and Sellers were using their cell phones like walkie talkies coordinating their attack on victim. (R. 107-33; 93-103; 210-11). This was an overt act in furtherance of the crime. State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479-80, 697 S.E.2d 578, 584 (2020). The men in both cars had now trapped the victim in his own home. (R. 107-33; 93-103; 210-11). This was another overt act in furtherance of the crime. Mattison, 388 S.C. at 479-80, 697 S.E.2d at 584.

Ingram testified all of the men in the car in front of victim's home got out of the car. One (1) of those men was Brown. Another man was on the phone, and he was yelling loudly for victim to come outside and face him. Brown would have heard this as he was standing near the man calling victim out of his home. Ms. Ingram testified she could see victim standing in his bedroom window at the same time this was occurring. Victim's girlfriend corroborated this testimony and identified this man calling victim out of his home as Davis, Brown's close associate. Cell phone records of Davis also corroborated this man was Davis as he called victim several times right before victim walked out of his home and was murdered by the gang of men, which included Brown. Victim's girlfriend saw this man, Davis, in the headlights of the car outside her home. She said there were 4 or 5 men outside the car. She described it was like 2 men on one side of the car and 2 or 3 men on the other side of the car. However, because it was dark and because of the headlights, she could not identify any of these other men except Davis. But, her neighbor, Ms. Ingram could identify several of them. Ingram testified 1 of the men was Brown. Ingram just happened to identify the 3 men who were communicating by phone with each other as they approached and when they arrived at victim's mobile home park. She also identified 1 of the other men as Harris, who she knew before this night. And, she identified another man was Jovanni McClain. McClain came and threatened her the following day; he had dreadlocks. (R. 107-33; 93-103; 210-11; State's Ex. 32-37).

In his brief, Brown attacks the credibility of Ingram's, identification of him. This argument is without any merit. Judge Burch conducted a Neil v. Biggers hearing before Ingram testified, and after considering all the appropriate factors admitted her in-court identification of Brown. (R. 64-91). The admissibility of her in-court identification of Brown as 1 of the perpetrators is not an issue before this court. That issue was not raised on appeal in Brown's

brief. (IBOA, p. 1). As a result, Judge Burch's admission of her identification of Brown as 1 of the perpetrators is the law of the case. Charleston Lumber Co. v. Miller Hous. Corp., 338 S.C. 171, 525 S.E.2d 869 (2000); Resolution Trust Corp. v. Eagle Lake & Golf Condominiums, 310 S.C. 473, 427 S.E.2d 646 (1993)(the trial judge's procedural ruling is the law of the case since it has not been appealed); Anderson v. Short, 323 S.C. 522, 476 S.E.2d 475 (1996)(where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the un-appealed ground will become the law of the case); *Appellate Practice in South Carolina*, 2<sup>nd</sup> Ed., p. 80, Toal, Vafai, Muckenfuss, S.C. Bar (2002); *See* Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR; Calhoun v Calhoun, 339 S.C. 96, 529 S.E.2d 14 (2000)(No point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal). Ingram's identification of Brown as 1 of the perpetrators of the murder was in evidence and before the jury. (R. 107-33).

Further, at the directed verdict stage, the trial judge is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight or credibility. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 781 S.E.2d at 353 (This Court considers only the existence or non-existence of evidence, not witness' credibility or the evidence weight, in reviewing the denial of a directed verdict); Cherry, 361 S.C. at 593, 606 S.E.2d at 478-79; Rogers supra, n. 5, 748 S.E.2d 265, n. 5; Phillips, 416 S.C. at 193, 785 S.E.2d at 52, *quoting Bennett*, 415 S.C. at 237, 781 S.E.2d at 354; *see* Rule 19(a), SCRCrP. Credibility and weight are matters for the jury. Here Ms. Ingram identified not only Brown, but also Sellers and Davis. (R. 107-33). The same 3 men who happened to converse by phone on their way to the mobile home park and as they arrived or shortly thereafter. (State's Ex. 32-37).

Ms. Ingram testified Brown and the rest of the gang of men then walked into victim's front yard. She testified some of the men were armed. Brown would have been able to see the guns being carried by the men he was with. Both Ingram and victim's girlfriend testified victim

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